

Online Continuing Education for Professional Engineers Since 2009

Flywheels for Rapid-Response Regulation of Electricity Grid

PDH Credits: 1 PDH

Course No.: FRR101

Publication Source:

U.S. Department of Energy

"Benefits from Flywheel Energy Storage for Area Regulation in California— Demonstration Results A Study for the DOE Energy Storage Systems Program"

> Sandia National Laboratories Sandia Report SAND2009-6457

> > Release Date: 2009

DISCLAIMER:

All course materials available on this website are not to be construed as a representation or warranty on the part of Online-PDH, or other persons and/or organizations named herein. All course literature is for reference purposes only, and should not be used as a substitute for competent, professional engineering council. Use or application of any information herein, should be done so at the discretion of a licensed professional engineer in that given field of expertise. Any person(s) making use of this information, herein, does so at their own risk and assumes any and all liabilities arising therefrom.

> Copyright © 2009 Online-PDH - All Rights Reserved 1265 San Juan Dr. - Merritt Island, FL 32952 Phone: 321-501-5601

Benefits from Flywheel Energy Storage for Area Regulation in California— Demonstration Results

A Study for the DOE Energy Storage Systems Program

Jim Eyer

Prepared by Sandia National Laboratories Albuquerque, New Mexico 87185 and Livermore, California 94550

Sandia is a multiprogram laboratory operated by Sandia Corporation, a Lockheed Martin Company, for the United States Department of Energy's National Nuclear Security Administration under Contract DE-AC04-94AL85000.

Approved for public release; further dissemination unlimited.



Issued by Sandia National Laboratories, operated for the United States Department of Energy by Sandia Corporation.

NOTICE: This report was prepared as an account of work sponsored by an agency of the United States Government. Neither the United States Government, nor any agency thereof, nor any of their employees, nor any of their contractors, subcontractors, or their employees, make any warranty, express or implied, or assume any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed, or represent that its use would not infringe privately owned rights. Reference herein to any specific commercial product, process, or service by trade name, trademark, manufacturer, or otherwise, does not necessarily constitute or imply its endorsement, recommendation, or favoring by the United States Government, any agency thereof, or any of their contractors or subcontractors. The views and opinions expressed herein do not necessarily state or reflect those of the United States Government, any agency thereof, or any of their contractors.

Printed in the United States of America. This report has been reproduced directly from the best available copy.

Available to DOE and DOE contractors from

U.S. Department of Energy Office of Scientific and Technical Information P.O. Box 62 Oak Ridge, TN 37831

Telephone:	(865) 576-8401
Facsimile:	(865) 576-5728
E-Mail:	reports@adonis.osti.gov
Online ordering:	http://www.osti.gov/bridge

Available to the public from U.S. Department of Commerce National Technical Information Service 5285 Port Royal Rd. Springfield, VA 22161

Telephone:(800) 553-6847Facsimile:(703) 605-6900E-Mail:orders@ntis.fedworld.govOnline order:http://www.ntis.gov/help/ordermethods.asp?loc=7-4-0#online



SAND2009-6457 Unlimited Release Printed October 2009

Benefits from Flywheel Energy Storage for Area Regulation in California— Demonstration Results

A Study for the DOE Energy Storage Systems Program

Jim Eyer Distributed Utility Associates 1626 Holmes Street. Livermore, CA 94550

Contract #795714

Abstract

This report documents a high-level analysis of the benefit and cost for flywheel energy storage used to provide area regulation for the electricity supply and transmission system in California. Area regulation is an 'ancillary service' needed for a reliable and stable regional electricity grid. The analysis was based on results from a demonstration, in California, of flywheel energy storage developed by Beacon Power Corporation (the system's manufacturer). Demonstrated was flywheel storage systems' ability to provide 'rapid-response' regulation. (Flywheel storage output can be varied much more rapidly than the output from conventional regulation sources, making flywheels more attractive than conventional regulation resources.)

The work was sponsored by the Department of Energy and Sandia National Laboratories Energy Storage Systems Program. The demonstration was supported by the California Energy Commission's Public Interest Energy Research program. It was located at the Distributed Utility Integration Testing facility managed by Distributed Utility Associates and located at the Pacific Gas and Electric Technological and Ecological Services research facility in San Ramon, California. The intended audience for this report includes electricity storage vendors, technology developers, system integrators and advocates, energy policymakers and researchers.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was sponsored by the U.S. Department of Energy's Energy Storage Systems Program under contract to Sandia National Laboratories. The authors thank Imre Gyuk at DOE and Paul Butler, John Boyes, Garth Corey, and Nancy Clark of Sandia for their support.

The authors also thank Doug Dorr of the Electric Power Research Institute's Power Electronics Applications Center for gathering, collating, and verifying performance-related data collected for the demonstration plant.

Jim Arseneaux and Chet Lyons from Beacon Power Corporation provided helpful information and support during development of this report.

David Hawkins from the California Independent System Operator provided important data, information, and support.

CONTENTS

Acronyms and Abbreviations	7
Glossary	9
Executive Summary	
Purpose and Scope Key Results and Conclusions	
Introduction	
Flywheel Energy Storage Project Background Project Purpose	
Flywheels for Area Regulation: The Value Proposition	
Regulation Service Benefits Cost Evaluation Assumptions and Approach	
Assumptions	19
Methodology	
Flywheel Energy Storage Cost and Performance	
Price for Conventional Regulation Service	
Value of Regulation from Flywheels	
Market Potential	
Methodology Observations and Caveats	
Results and Conclusions	
Results	
Conclusions	
Needs and Opportunities for Research and Development	
References	
Appendix—Cost and Benefits Worksheets	

FIGURES

Figure 1. PW factors for three discount rates and various service lives	20
Figure 2. 2006 up-regulation prices in California	21
Figure 3. 2006 down-regulation prices in California.	22
Figure 4. First year and lifecycle net revenue, with break-even indicator	

TABLES

Table 1. Potential Air Emissions Reduction	. 17
Table 2. Financial Assumptions for Lifecycle Benefit/Cost Analysis [8]	. 19
Table 3. Flywheel Storage Cost and Performance Assumptions	. 21
Table 4. Demonstration Plant Actual Availability and Commercial Plant Expected	
Availability	. 25
-	

Acronyms and Abbreviations

ACE	area control error
AGC	automatic generation control
CAISO	California Independent System Operator
CEC	California Energy Commission
CO_2	carbon dioxide
CPS	control performance standards
DCS	disturbance control standard
DUA	Distributed Utility Associates
DUIT	Distributed Utility Integration Testing
EMS	Energy management system
ISO	independent system operator
kW	kilowatts
MW	megawatts
NERC	North American Electric Reliability Council
NO _x	nitrogen oxide
OASIS	Open Access Same-time Information System
PCS	power conversion/conditioning system
PG&E	Pacific Gas and Electric Company
PIER	California Energy Commission Public Interest Energy Research program
PW	present worth
T&D	transmission and distribution
WSCC	Western Systems Coordinating Council

Glossary

Ancillary Services* – Services other than scheduled energy which are required to maintain system reliability and meet Western Systems Coordinating Council (WSCC)/ North American Electric Reliability Council (NERC) operating criteria. Such services include spinning, non-spinning, and replacement reserves; regulation (automatic generation control or AGC); voltage control; and black-start capability.

Area Control Error (ACE)* – The sum of the instantaneous difference between the actual net Interchange and the scheduled net interchange between the California Independent System Operator (CAISO) control area and all adjacent areas, taking into account the effects of control areas and the CAISO control area's frequency bias, correction of feter error and time error correction obligations.

Automatic Generation Control (AGC)* – Generation equipment that automatically responds to signals from the CAISO's energy management system (EMS) in real time to control the power output of generating units within a prescribed area in response to a change in system frequency, tie-line loading, or the relation of these to each other, so as to maintain the target system frequency and/or the established interchange with other areas within the predetermined limits.

Area Regulation – See Regulation Service.

Carrying Cost – The cost to own capital equipment including return *on* principal (equity and/or interest), return *of* principal, depreciation, taxes, and insurance. Carrying cost does not include consumables or variable and fixed operations costs.

Demand – The rate of electric energy delivery, normally in kilowatts (kW) or megawatts (MW) for utilities (not adjusted for power factor).

Distribution – See Electricity Distribution

Down Regulation – Decreased use of generation equipped with governors and AGC to maintain minute-to-minute generation/load balance within the control area to meet NERC control-performance standards.

Electricity Distribution –Part of the electricity grid that delivers electricity to end users. It is connected to the transmission system which, in turn, is connected to the electric supply system (generators). Relative to electricity *transmission* the distribution system is used to send relatively small amounts of electricity over relatively short distances. In the U.S., distribution system operating voltages generally range from several hundred volts to 50 kV (50,000 V). Typical power transfer capacities range from a few tens of MW for substation transformers to tens of kW for small circuits.

Electricity Subtransmission – As the name implies, subtransmission transfers smaller amounts of electricity, at lower operating voltages than transmission. For the purposes of this study, transmission and distribution (T&D) is assumed to include subtransmission and not high-capacity/high-voltage transmission systems.

Electricity Transmission – Electricity transmission is the backbone of the electricity grid. Transmission wires, transformers, and control systems transfer electricity from supply sources (generation or electricity storage) to utility *distribution* systems. Relative to electricity *distribution* systems, the transmission system is used to send large amounts of electricity over relatively long distances. In the U.S., transmission system operating voltages generally range from 200 kV (200,000 V) to 500 kV. Transmission systems typically transfer the equivalent of 200 to 500 MW. Most transmission systems use alternating current, though some larger, longer transmission corridors employ high-voltage direct current.

Equipment Rating – The amount of power that can be delivered under specified conditions. The most basic rating is the 'nameplate' rating: nominal power delivery rate under 'design' conditions. Other ratings may be used as well. For example, T&D equipment often has an 'emergency' rating (*i.e.*, the sustainable power delivery rate under emergency conditions such as when load exceeds nameplate rating by several percentage points). Operation at emergency rating is assumed to occur infrequently, if ever.

Peak Demand – The maximum power draw on a power delivery system, usually year specific.

Regulation Service – Increased or decreased use of generation equipped with governors and AGC to maintain minute-to-minute generation/load balance within the control area to meet NERC control-performance standards. The CAISO defines regulation in terms of generation: the portion of a generating unit's unloaded capability that can be loaded, or loaded capability that can be unloaded, in response to AGC signals from the independent system operator's (ISO's) EMS control computer. Regulation is used to provide control-area balancing, frequency bias, and time-error correction.

Subtransmission – See Electricity Subtransmission.

Up Regulation – Increased use of generation equipped with governors and automatic generation control to maintain minute-to-minute generation/load balance within the control area to meet NERC control-performance standards.

Value Proposition – A value proposition comprises all benefits and all costs, including risk, that are associated with an investment or purchase.

* Definitions supplied by the CAISO.

Executive Summary

Purpose and Scope

This report describes a high-level evaluation of the financial viability of using flywheel electricity storage as a grid regulation resource. The evaluation was based on results from a flywheel storage system demonstration. That demonstration was undertaken to demonstrate 1) flywheel energy storage's overall performance as a regulation resource and 2) the presumed advantage that flywheels have over generation for regulation – the ability to vary power output very rapidly and reliably.

Key Results and Conclusions

The performance of the flywheel storage system demonstrated was generally consistent with requirements for a possible new class of regulation resources – 'rapid-response' energy-storage-based regulation – in California. In short, it was demonstrated that Beacon Power Corporation's flywheel system follows a rapidly changing control signal (the ACE, which changes every four seconds).

Based on the results and on expected plant cost and performance, the Beacon Power flywheel storage system has a good chance of being a financially viable regulation resource. Results indicate a benefit/cost ratio of 1.5 to 1.8 using what may be somewhat conservative assumptions. (A benefit/cost ratio of one indicates that, based on the financial assumptions used, the investment's financial returns just meet the investors' target.)

Introduction

This report documents results from a demonstration of flywheel electric energy storage (flywheels) for area regulation, an ancillary service required for electric grid operation. The work was sponsored by the California Energy Commission's (CEC's) Public Interest Energy Research (PIER) program and the U.S. Department of Energy's Energy Storage Systems Program. The flywheel is made by Beacon Power Corporation (Beacon Power).

In addition to demonstrating flywheels' overall performance as a regulation resource, one key objective of the project was to demonstrate the presumed advantage that flywheels have over generation for regulation – the ability to vary power output rapidly and reliably.

Flywheel Energy Storage

Flywheel systems include a cylinder with a shaft that can spin rapidly within a robust enclosure. A magnet levitates the cylinder so there are limited friction-related losses and wear. The shaft is connected to a motor/generator and stator. Kinetic energy is converted to electric power via an external power conditioning system (PCS).

The flywheel system demonstrated was a 100-kW pilot version of Beacon Power's 20-MW Smart Energy MatrixTM. The pilot system comprises seven individual flywheels, a PCS, and communication and control subsystems. It can discharge at full output for 15 minutes. The response time is described by Beacon Power to be "less than 4 seconds (at full power)." The demonstration was located at Distributed Utility Associates' (DUA's) Distributed Utility Integration Test (DUIT) testbed, at Pacific Gas and Electric's (PG&E's) Technical and Ecological Services facility in San Ramon, California.

Project Background

The Beacon Power high-speed flywheel electricity storage system is nearing commercialization. One apparently superior application of the technology is for electric power system regulation (also known as area regulation, or simply regulation).

Regulation involves balancing the minute-to-minute fluctuations of *demand* for electricity and electricity *supply* capacity. Most regulation is provided by conventional thermal electric generation plants. Those plants provide 'up' regulation by increasing output when electricity demand exceeds supply and 'down' regulation by reducing output when electricity supply exceeds demand.

Storage provides up regulation by discharging energy into the grid, and storage provides down regulation by absorbing energy from the grid. Notably, the rate of power from (or into) flywheel storage can change quite rapidly whereas output from conventional regulation sources – primarily thermal generation plants – changes slowly. Generation plants' output (up or down) changes by percentage points per minute whereas flywheels' output can change from full *output* (discharge) to full *input* (charging) – and *vice versa* – within a few seconds.

Project Purpose

The demonstration had one overarching goal—demonstrate the flywheel's ability to follow a rapidly changing control signal such that the value of regulation from the flywheel is worth

significantly more than regulation provided by generation plants. This report documents an evaluation of the demonstration plant's performance as a high-value regulation resource and the possible financial costs and benefits from a commercial flywheel storage plant used as a regulation resource. The evaluation was performed in parallel to a similar analysis undertaken by Beacon Power. Consequently, it provides the basis for a second opinion regarding the financial viability of flywheels for high-value regulation.

Flywheels for Area Regulation: The Value Proposition

A value proposition comprises all benefits and all costs that are associated with an investment or purchase. The value proposition evaluated for this report is use of flywheel energy storage to provide area regulation.

A key premise underlying the value proposition investigated for this research is that the rapid-response characteristic of electricity storage makes it especially valuable as a regulation resource. In fact, flywheel storage advocates and some experts contend that the benefit associated with regulation from flywheels is on the order of two times that of regulation provided by generation.

Additionally, if storage is a more effective regulation resource than generation, the amount of generation freed up to serve electric demand may exceed the amount of storage capacity (MW) deployed. Furthermore, though not the subject of this work, if electricity storage is used for regulation in lieu of generation, there may be less wear and tear on generation equipment; reduced fuel use per kWh generated; and reduced emissions due to reduced plant ramping and reduced part-load operation.

Regulation Service

Regulation is a type of ancillary service¹ involving management of "interchange flows with other control areas to match closely the scheduled interchange flows" and moment-to-moment variations in demand within the control area. The primary reasons for including regulation in the power system are to maintain the grid frequency and to comply with the NERC Control Performance Standards (CPS) 1 and 2 (NERC 1999a). Regulation also assists in recovery from disturbances, as measured by compliance with NERC's Disturbance Control Standard (DCS).[1]

Regulation is typically provided by "generating units that are online and producing energy, equipped with AGC equipment, and that can change output quickly (MW/minute) over an agreed upon range of power output (MW)." Generation facilities used for up regulation and those used for down regulation are operated at levels below maximum output and above minimum output, respectively.[2]

When there is a momentary *shortfall* of electric supply capacity, generation facilities' output to the grid is increased to provide up regulation. Conversely, plant output is reduced to provide down regulation when there is a momentary *excess* of electric supply. Typically, thermal power plants are most efficient when operated at a specific and constant (power) output level. Similarly, air emissions and plant wear and tear are usually lowest when thermal generation operates at constant output.

¹ Ancillary Services are electric resources – other than the conventional power generation – that are used to maintain reliable and effective operation of the electric supply and transmission systems. Most often ancillary services are provided by utilities, though an increasing portion are provided by third parties. Six key ancillary services are 1) scheduling, system control, and dispatch; 2) reactive supply and voltage control from generation sources; 3) regulation and frequency response; 4) energy imbalance; 5) spinning reserve; and 6) supplemental reserve.

Storage provides up regulation by discharging (injecting energy into the grid), and it provides down regulation by charging (energy is taken from the grid to be stored). Unlike thermal power plants, flywheels' performance is not affected much as output varies. And, while thermal power plants can require minutes or even hours to change power output significantly, flywheels can change power output level quite quickly – going from full output to no output in seconds. In fact, flywheels can transition from discharging at full (rated) power to charging in seconds.

Benefits

At minimum, regulation from flywheels is at least as valuable as regulation provided by slower generation capacity. Regulation from flywheels, however, may be even more valuable. First, flywheel storage can provide both up regulation and down regulation during the same time period (though not simultaneously). Second, because of the rapid-response feature – ability to change power input and output rapidly – flywheels may provide regulation that is more effective than regulation provided by slower, generation-based resources. Because of this advantage, regulation from flywheels is assumed to provide twice the benefit to the grid as regulation from generation.[3][4][5]

Revenue for providing up and down regulation services for an entire year (8,760 hours) is estimated based on CAISO published hourly prices for both services for the year 2006 (see details in the *Results and Conclusions* section). The hourly prices are multiplied by two, to reflect the higher benefit from flywheels relative to generation-based regulation, before annual revenues are estimated.

In addition to the price for regulation in specific hours of the year, another important criterion affecting the flywheel-for-regulation value proposition is flywheel plant availability. This is because the amount of time that the flywheel is available to provide regulation affects total profit that can be realized during the year. Notably, because of the modularity of flywheel storage (the Beacon Power design is quite modular) equipment diversity should result in high reliability. Specifically, a 20-MW, commercial-scale plant is expected to comprise a few hundred flywheel units.

Though not included in the financial analysis, additional benefits derived from the use of flywheels for regulation may include the following: reduced need for generation capacity, reduced fuel for generation, reduced air emissions from generation, and reduced generation equipment wear and tear. As an indication of the prospects for reducing air emissions, consider results from a study performed by KEMA, Inc (kema.com), shown in Table 1. Based on results from that study, flywheels used for regulation in California could reduce carbon dioxide (CO_2) emissions by 26% when compared to pumped hydroelectric storage used for regulation, 53% if the flywheels replace baseload gas-fired generation, and 59% if a natural-gas-fired peaking generator is displaced. Similarly nitrogen oxide (NO_x) emissions may also be reduced by 20% to nearly 50%.[6]

Flywheel Emission Savings Over 20-year Life: CA-ISO									
	Co	al	Natura	il Gas	Pumped Hydro				
	Baseload	Peaker	Baseload	Peaker					
CO2									
Flywheel	91,079	91,079	91,079	91,079	91,079				
Alternate Gen.	322,009	608,354	194,534	223,997	123,577				
Savings (Flywheel)	230,930	517,274	103,455	132,917	32,498				
Percent Savings	72%	85%	53%	59%	26%				
SO2									
Flywheel	63	63	63	63	63				
Alternate Gen.	1,103	2,803	0	0	85				
Savings (Flywheel)	1,041	2,741	-63	-63	23				
Percent Savings	94%	98%	n/a	n/a	27%				
NOx									
Flywheel	64	64	64	64	64				
Alternate Gen.	499	1,269	80	118	87				
Savings (Flywheel)	435	1,205	16	54	23				
Percent Savings	87%	95%	20%	46%	26%				

Table 1. Potential Air Emissions Reduction

Cost

The primary cost element for flywheel storage is the cost to own the plant itself (carrying cost) including the cost for financing and taxes. Other important, though much less significant, elements of total cost are expenses, primarily repairs and equipment replacement required during the service life of the equipment and the cost for 'make-up' energy needed to offset losses associated with charging and discharging storage. Details about cost and performance for the Beacon Power flywheel are provided in the next section.

Evaluation Assumptions and Approach

Assumptions

This section describes the approach and assumptions used for financial analysis. Readers should note that two key assumptions – storage system service life and the discount rate used to calculate present worth over the service life – are intended to represent a *generic* circumstance. For any *specific* circumstance, situation-specific assumptions may be appropriate. (Figure 1 provides a general indication of the effect that service life and discount rate have on lifecycle financials.)

Benefits and costs associated with flywheel energy storage systems used for regulation are calculated using the financial bases shown in Table 2. Specifically, the present worth of expense and benefit streams are calculated using the following standard values: 1) 10- year storage system service life, 2) 10% discount rate, and 3) 2.5% annual price escalation (inflation) rate. The annual carrying cost for the (capital) plant and equipment is calculated using a fixed charge rate of 0.13 for utility-owned equipment and 0.20 for private/non-utility ownership. (Fixed charge rates are used to estimate 'levelized' or annuity-like payments that reflect the owner's cost of capital, taxes, and insurance associated with owning the capital plant and equipment.) Given that flywheels for the value proposition considered are assumed to be owned by a non-utility entity, the fixed charge rate used is 0.20.[7]

Parameter	Value
Service Life	10 years
Discount Rate	10.0%
General Inflation Rate	2.5%
Utility Fixed Charge Rate	0.13
Non-utility Fixed Charge Rate	0.20

Table 2. Financial Assumptions for Lifecycle Benefit/Cost Analysis [8]

Methodology

The first three criteria described above – service life, discount rate, and inflation – are used to calculate the present worth (PW) factor. As shown in Figure 1, PW factors provide a simplified way to represent a discounted present worth of a stream of regular revenues or payments, for a range of time periods (1 to 20 are plotted), for various discount rates (three are plotted).



Figure 1. PW factors for three discount rates and various service lives.

Consider an example: It will cost \$100,000 in the first year of operation for a storage plant. That annual cost is assumed to escalate at 2.5% per year over the 10-year service life. The owner uses a 10% discount rate. The present worth of all costs (before tax) is about \$717,000 (7.17 PW factor \times \$100,000 in Year 1). For comparison, consider present worth values for the other discount rates shown in Figure 1. For a first year cost of \$100,000, the present worth (over 10 years) is about \$813,000 if the discount rate is 7% per year and the 10-year present worth is about \$630,000 if the discount rate is 13% per year. The 7.17 PW factor is the one used for revenues and for expenses for this report.

For the capital plant, the installed cost for the capital equipment is multiplied by the fixed charge rate to calculate the levelized capital carrying cost for the plant in the first year. That same annual charge is assumed to apply for the life of the plant (10 years for this analysis). Finally, the 10 years of annual carrying cost values (\$Current) are discounted using the 10% discount rate. Using the PW factor method described above and assuming no inflation², the PW factor used is 6.44.

Readers should note that the standard plant life used is 10 years. However, Beacon Power expects the flywheels to last 20 years. To compensate, the PW of revenues and expenses not related to carrying cost is increased by about 50%, to account for operation in the second 10 years of the plant's life. As shown in Figure 1, that increment is estimated based on a PW factor of 10.7 for 20 years, not the 7.17 PW factor for 10 years used throughout the rest of this report.

² By definition, levelized payments do not change throughout the life of the plant, like mortgage payments.

Flywheel Energy Storage Cost and Performance

The values shown in Table 3 are flywheel storage system cost and performance assumptions plus the price for make-up energy. The cost and performance values for flywheels reflect expected values for a 20-MW, commercial-scale plant. Installed cost reflects a 20% uncertainty adder. This value is used to account for the normal uncertainty associated with technology scale up and commercial project development (*e.g.*, siting, contracts, construction delays, *etc.*).

Criterion	Value
Commercial Plant Scale	20 MW
Plant Installed Cost	\$1,566/kw
Plant Availability	95%
Round-trip Efficiency	81%
Variable Operation Cost	\$3.14/MWh _{out}
Fixed Operation Cost (Year 1)	\$11.60/kW
Make-up Energy Price	\$40/MWh

Table 3. Flywheel Storage Cost and Performance Assumptions

Price for Conventional Regulation Service

The key data used for estimating the regulation benefit is the hourly price for up- and downregulation services (each priced separately). That price is denominated in \$/MW per hour of service. Hourly prices for up and down regulation in California in 2006 are shown in Figure 2 and Figure 3, respectively. Annual average prices used for the valuation are \$21.48/MW (up) and \$15.33/MW (down) per service hour, for a total of \$36.70/MW per service hour.



Figure 2. 2006 up-regulation prices in California.



Figure 3. 2006 down-regulation prices in California.

Value of Regulation from Flywheels

As described elsewhere in this report, it is assumed that flywheels used for regulation provide twice as much benefit to the grid as generation-based regulation. Specifically, it is assumed that regulation resources are twice as valuable if they follow the ACE signal closely. That signal changes every several seconds to reflect the momentary difference between the amount of power that is online and the amount needed to keep supply and demand balanced and to maintain the electrical stability of the grid (especially the 60-Hz frequency). Based on this assumption, flywheel storage used as a regulation resource is treated as if it is eligible for payments that are twice as much as prices shown above for conventional generation-based regulation.

Market Potential

In addition to financials, the CEC/PIER is interested in the market potential (in MW) for the flywheels-for-regulation value proposition. Unfortunately, the authors of this report do not have the resources needed to establish that value rigorously or credibly. Nonetheless, the authors speculate that a conservative estimate of the market potential in California could be on the order of 50 to 60 MW of the total regulation market managed by the CAISO over the next ten years. (The CAISO does not manage all of the regulation resources within the state. Some of that capacity could be in play as well.) This speculation has two primary bases. The first is a cursory review of regulation capacity requirements available at the CAISO Open Access Same-Time Information System (OASIS) website (http://oasis.caiso.com/) under the ancillary (services) tab and on discussions with representatives from Beacon Power. The second is a discussion with representatives from Beacon Power.[9]

Methodology Observations and Caveats

- The make-up energy price assumed was not developed rigorously. Although this value is probably adequate for the purposes of this report, it should be developed more rigorously when evaluating the financials for an actual project.
- Based on results from the demonstration project, flywheel systems with 15 minutes of storage can store enough energy to provide regulation during 97.5% of the time that the storage is used. For the purposes of this evaluation, the financial implications of that criterion are assumed to be modest and are ignored.
- The project was a demonstration of the flywheel's ability to respond to rapidly changing control signals without regard to the magnitude of the response (in MW) that might be needed. Consequently, the results herein reflect the value for regulation capacity on the margin.
- The market potential estimate used for this evaluation (though adequate for a highlevel estimate of the magnitude of the statewide economic impact) is imprecise. Unfortunately, little is known about the effect of significant penetration of rapidresponse regulation capacity on the need for regulation or the price for regulation.
- The premise about how much more valuable flywheels are than generation-based regulation resources (as meritorious as it may be) may not be reflected in regulation pricing without a significant amount of confirmation, regulatory accommodation, and time.
- The 0.20 annualization factor used to estimate annual carrying cost for the plant, though perhaps imprecise, does provide a reasonable general indication of the cost to finance plant and equipment using non-utility equity.
- Another important assumption affecting results is the 20% uncertainly adder that increases the assumed installed cost for a commercial plant (provided by Beacon Power). That value is used to account for the myriad unforeseen challenges that are likely to beset *any* technology development enterprise and project development effort.
- Finally, the design service life for a commercial Beacon Power flywheel plant is 20 years. For at least two reasons, the assumed service life for the evaluation described in this report is 10 years. Perhaps most importantly, guidelines established by CEC/PIER for evaluating the merits of various storage demonstrations require using generic standard assumptions as bases for comparing financials for all demonstration projects sponsored. Those generic assumptions include 10-year life, 10% discount rate, and 2.5% price escalation rate. Second, though the authors do not mean to refute the 20-year expected life assumed by Beacon Power, a more conservative 10-year life expectancy was used for this report because both the technology and the value proposition are so new.

Results and Conclusions

Perhaps the most important result from the project is that the sponsors and vendors successfully demonstrated the ability of the Beacon flywheel to follow control signals that change very rapidly—much more rapidly than the signal used to control the output of generation-based regulation. Although they are not addressed in this report, readers should be aware of similar results from work in New York State involving Beacon's flywheel energy storage. [10] [11]

Results

Demonstration plant availability for three plant output levels (relative to full rating) is summarized in Table 4. Also shown is the availability assumed for a commercial plant. As shown, the demonstration unit operated 51.4% of the time at full capacity (full capacity means that all seven flywheels were operating). Similarly, the demonstration unit operated nearly 53% of the time at 85.7% of rated capacity (85.7% capacity represents six flywheels of seven). There were at least five of seven flywheels (71.4% of full rated capacity) operating almost 88% of the time. Note that the demonstration plant's availability would be somewhat higher when accounting for research-related outages which include downtime due to causes that would only affect operation of a research or pilot project (*e.g.*, no control signal was available, access to the demonstration facility was restricted, or the system could not be connected to the grid). Downtime to due equipment failure is *not* considered research-related.

Capacity (% of Full)	Availability (Actual)	Without 'Research-related' Outages	Commercial Plant (Expected)
100%	47.3%	51.4%	95.0%
85.7%	52.7%	56.9%	
71.4%	87.8%	92.0%	

Table 4. Demonstration Plant Actual Availability andCommercial Plant Expected Availability

The financial implications of the availability results are summarized in Figure 4. Calculation details are provided the Appendix. The left axis shows \$/kW in Year 1. Those units reflect a single-year amount, in the first year, for each kW of plant rating. The right axis indicates the corresponding lifecycle value over the plant's (assumed) 10-year life. Results are shown for three levels of annual average power output: 71%, 86%, and 100% of plant rating. Note that 71% represents 5 of 7 flywheels in the demonstration system, 86% represents 6 of 7 flywheels, and 100% represents 7 of 7 flywheels. Results are presented, for those three plant output levels, for a range of plant annual availability levels. Also shown is the break-even amount, reflecting the carrying cost for a commercial plant. The uppermost plot indicates results for plants operating at full rating. The next two plots indicate financials for a plant operating at the respectively. Thicker parts (to the lower left) of the three plots reflect results from the demonstration. Endpoints on all three plots indicate financials for a plant operating at the respective portion of rated output, if the plant operates as much as a commercial plant is expected to operate (95% of the year, full-load equivalent).

In the upper right portion of the figure, a box indicates financials that would be expected for a commercial plant, based on the assumptions discussed above. The benefit/cost ratio for such a plant ranges from 500/kW benefits $\div 313/kW$ break-even = 1.6 to 554/kW benefits $\div 313/kW$ break-even = 1.77. Note that plant designers expect a 20-year service life for a 20-MW, commercial-scale plant, though the assumed service life for this report is 10 years. To account for the difference, the present worth of additional benefits increases by about 50%.



Figure 4. First year and lifecycle net revenue, with break-even indicator.

Conclusions

Based on the results and on expected plant cost and performance, the Beacon Power flywheel storage system has a good chance of being a financially viable regulation resource. Results indicate a benefit/cost ratio of 1.6 to 1.8 using somewhat conservative assumptions.

The market potential (in MW) is less certain. Uncertainty about technical market potential is driven in part by a lack of knowledge regarding how the use of rapid-response regulation resources on the margin will affect overall demand and the price for regulation. Regarding market share, there is always uncertainty regarding competing options, including other vendors/developers and other technologies or approaches.

Needs and Opportunities for Research and Development

One compelling question for this value proposition is "*How much of this resource could be used and how much will be used?*" Consistent with the hypothesis that rapid -esponse storage is twice as valuable as generation-based regulation capacity, another hypothesis to test is that only half as much regulation is needed if all regulation is rapid response. Additionally, if all regulation is rapid-response regulation, *generation* capacity is freed to provide power or other more valuable ancillary services and will probably produce less pollution and use less fuel per MWh delivered.

Another way to broach the question is *"What are key implications for the grid if all regulation is provided entirely by rapid-response regulation?"* More specifically, what are the implications for 1) the amount of regulation needed, 2) the total cost to ratepayers for regulation, and 3) fuel use and air emissions from generation?

References

- 1. Hirst, Eric. Kirby, Brendan. *What is the Correct time-averaging Period for the Regulation Ancillary Service?* Oak Ridge National Laboratory. April 2000. http://www.ornl.gov/sci/btc/apps/Restructuring/regtime.pdf
- 2. *ibid*. [1].
- Discussion at the California ISO offices. Attendees: David Hawkins, California ISO; Mike Gravely, California Energy Commission; Bill Capp and Chet Lyons, Beacon Power. April 12, 2007, 2:00 to 4:00 p.m.
- 4. California Energy Commission Press Release. "California Energy Commission Applauds Beacon Power Upon Reaching Research Goal." January 10, 2007.
- 5. Makarov, Dr. Yuri. Pacific Northwest National Laboratory in conjunction with the California ISO. *Relative Regulation Capacity Value of the Flywheel Energy Storage Resource*. The research was initially commissioned and funded by the California ISO. While the work was in progress, Dr. Makarov left the ISO and later published the report on November 26, 2005.
- 6. Enslin, Johan, Ph.D. Fioravanti, Richard. *Emissions Comparison for a 20 MW Flywheel-based Frequency Regulation Power Plant.* A study performed by KEMA, Inc. under a contract funded by the U.S. DOE via Sandia National Laboratories. Sandia Contract Number 611589. October, 2006.
- 7. The Public Interest Energy Research Program Request for Proposals #500-03-501 for the Electric Energy Storage Demonstration Projects in California. California Energy Commission. July 31, 2003.
- 8. *ibid*. [3].
- 9. Discussion with Chet Lyons and Jim Arseneaux of Beacon Power, June 6, 2007. During the discussion, Mr. Lyons and Mr. Arseneaux indicated that discussions with representatives of various ISOs leads, Beacon to assume that market penetrations levels of 20 to 25% would have little to modest impact on both the need for regulation and the price paid for regulation. Beacon Power contends that that level is conservative.
- 10. Arseneaux, Jim, Project Manger, Beacon Power Corporation. *Grid Frequency Regulation by Recycling Electrical Energy in Flywheels, Final Report.* Prepared for The New York State Energy Research and Development Authority, Contract #8719.
- Rounds, Robert. Peek, Georgianne. Design and Development of a 20-MW Flywheelbased Frequency Regulation Power Plant. Sandia National Laboratories. SAND2008-8229. January 2009.

Appendix—Cost and Benefits Worksheets

Plant Target Cost (\$/kW) 1,305 Plant Cost Uncertainty Adder 20.0%

Discount Rate 10.0%

Present Worth (Annualization) Factor 0.20

Plant PW Factor 6.44

Plant Availability 95.0%

Variable Operartion Cost (\$/MWhout) 3.14

Roundtrip Efficiency 81%

Makeup Energy Price (\$/MWhout) 40.00

Fixed Operation Cost (\$/kW, Year 1) 11.60

Price Escalation 2.5%

Expenses & Revenue PW Factor 7.17

Plant Installed Cost (\$/kW) 1,566 with 20.0% uncertainty adder

Plant Annual Capital Cost (\$/kW, Year 1) 313

Lifecycle Plant Capital Cost (\$PW/kW, 10 Years) 2,017

Plant Annual Operation Hours* 8,322 *50.0% for UP regulation

Plant VOC (\$/kW, Year 1)** 13.05 **For 4,161 "full load" hours of up regulation.

Makup Energy Charges (\$/kW Year 1)** 7.9 **For 4,161 "full load" hours of up regulation.

Fixed Operation Cost (\$/kW, Year 1) 11.6

Cost Summary

<u>\$/kW, Year 1</u>

Capital Plant Cost313.2=> Used as BreakevenTOTAL Expenses32.6Fuel + VOC and FOCTotal Cost345.8

Case: Beacon Flywheel Energy Storage

	Regulation Type	<u>Up</u>	Down	<u>Total</u>	Benefit Scaler 2.00
Averag	ge Annual Price (\$/MW per hour)	21.48	15.23	36.7	Plant Nominal Rating (kW) 100
Annua	al Total Revenue (\$/MW, Year 1)	188,140	133,426	321,567	Roundtrip Efficiency 81.0%
	(\$/kW, Year 1)	188	133	322	
					Makup Energy Charges (\$/kW, Year 1)** 33.29
		\$*	per kW		Makeup Energy Price: \$40.0 / MWh
	Capital Plant Installed Cost	156,600	1,566		Variable Operating Cost (\$/kW, Year 1)** 13.74
	Annual Carrying Cost	31,320	313		VOC Unit Cost: \$3.14 / MWh out
	Lifecycle Carrying Cost** **6.44 Present Worth Factor	201,701	2,017		**For 4,380 "full load" hours of up regulation.
	Annual Expenses Includes Fuel and Operations Costs	5,862	58.62		Fixed Operating Cost (\$/kW, Year 1) 11.60
		**For a 10	0 kW plant.		

		Availa	ability		Annual Gross Revenue (\$, Year 1)				Annual Operating Cost (\$ Year 1)			
		Demo. w/o				Demo. w/o				Demo. w/o		
		Commu-	Demo. w/o			Commu-	Demo. w/o			Commu-	Demo. w/o	
Plant	Demo.,	nication-	Research-	Commercial	Demo.,	nication-	Research-	Commercial		nication-	Research-	Commercial
Power	Actual	related	related	Plant, Target	Actual	related	related	Plant, Target	Demo., Actual	related	related	Plant, Target
(kW)	Availability	Outages	Outages	Availability	Availability	Outages	Outages	Availability	Availability	Outages	Outages	Availability
100	47.3%	47.3%	51.4%	95.0%	30,407	30,407	33,087	61,098	3,383	3,383	3,579	5,627
85.7	52.7%	52.7%	56.9%	95.0%	29,062	29,062	31,359	52,369	3,119	3,119	3,287	4,823
71.4	87.8%	87.8%	92.0%	95.0%	40,342	40,342	42,256	43,641	3,778	3,778	3,918	4,020

	Annual Net* Revenue (\$ Year 1)				Lifecycle Net* Revenue (\$PW)				Lifecycle B/C**			
		Demo. w/o				Demo. w/o				Demo. w/o		
		Commu-	Demo. w/o			Commu-	Demo. w/o			Commu-	Demo. w/o	
Plant	Demo.,	nication-	Research-	Commercial	Demo.,	nication-	Research-	Commercial		nication-	Research-	Commercial
Power	Actual	related	related	Plant, Target	Actual	related	related	Plant, Target	Demo., Actual	related	related	Plant, Target
(kW)	Availability	Outages	Outages	Availability	Availability	Outages	Outages	Availability	Availability	Outages	Outages	Availability
100	27,024	27,024	29,508	55,470	193,762	193,762	211,571	397,722	0.96	0.96	1.05	1.97
85.7	25,943	25,943	28,072	47,546	186,011	186,011	201,276	340,905	0.92	0.92	1.00	1.69
71.4	36,564	36,564	38,338	39,622	262,162	262,162	274,882	284,087	1.30	1.30	1.36	1.41

*Net = revenue minus operations costs and makeup energy charges.

**\$PW Lifecycle Net Revenue / Plant Installed Cost.

DISTRIBUTION

Hard Copies

Technical Library 0899	Sandia National Laboratories	M/S
Energy Storage Program (5) 1108	Sandia National Laboratories	M/S
Central Technical Files 9018	Sandia National Laboratories	M/S

Butler, Paul C. OUSD(AT&L)/PSA/LW&M 3090 Defense Pentagon, Room 5C756 Washington, DC 20301-3090

Electronic Copies—Internal

Atcitty, Stan	satcitt@sandia.gov
Borneo, Dan	drborne@sandia.gov
Bower, Ward I.	wibower@sandia.gov
Boyes, John	jdboyes@sandia.gov
Butler, Paul C.	pcbutle@sandia.gov
Cameron, Christopher P.	cpcamer@sandia.gov
Clark, Nancy	nhclark@sandia.gov
Corey, Garth	gpcorey@sandia.gov
Hund, Tom	tdhund@sandia.gov
Ingersoll, David	dingers@sandia.gov
Jungst, Rudolph G.	rgjungs@sandia.gov
Peek, Georgianne	ghpeek@sandia.gov
Ragland, Don B.	dragla@sandia.gov

Electronic Copies—External

Badger, Joe	JBI Corporation joe@jbicorp.com
Baxter, Richard	Ardour Capital Investments, LLC rbaxter@ardourcapital.com
Beardsworth, Ed	Energy Technology Advisors edbeards@ufto.com
Benke, Michael	BEW Engineering mike.behnke@bewengineering.com
Bertagnolli, David	ISO New England dbert@iso-ne.com
Bindewald, Gil	U.S. Department of Energy gilbert.bindewald@hq.doe.gov
Bloom, Ira D.	Argonne National Laboratories bloom@cmt.anl.gov
Boden, Dave	Hammond Expanders dboden@hmndgroup.com
Braun, Gerald W.	California Energy Commission Gerry.braun@ucop.edu
Brown, Dave	Battery Energy david.brown@batteryenergy.com.au
Burnham, Jeff	NGK jeff@ngk-polymer.com
Butler, Paul C.	OUSD(AT&L)/PSA/LW&M pcbutle@sandia.gov
Camm, Ernest	S&C Electric Company ecamm@sandc.com
Cantrell, Michelle	NorthStar Battery michelle.cantrell@northstarbattery.com
Capp, Bill	Beacon Power Corp capp@beaconpower.com
Cole, Jerome F.	International Lead Zinc Research Organization, Inc. jcole@ilzro.org
Craft, Ben	NorthStar Battery ben.craft@northstarbattery.com
Crimp, Peter	Alaska Energy Authority/AIDEA pcrimp@aidea.org
Crow, Mariesa	University of Missouri-Rolla crow@umr.edu
Dailey, John	Electro Energy, Inc. jdsouthbry@aol.com
Davis, Murray W.	DTE Energy davism@dteenergy.com

Deshpande, Sanjay	EnerSys Inc Sanjay.Deshpande@enersysinc.com
Dickinson, Enders	Axion Power edickinson@axionpower.com
Djogo, Goran	S&C Electric Company gdjogo@sandc.com
Donalek, Peter	Montgomery Watson Harza (MWH) Global peter.j.donalek@mwhglobal.com
Dossey, Tom	Southern California Edison thomas.dossey@sce.com
Drake, Richard	NYSERDA rld@nyserda.org
Dudney, Kevin	California Public Utilities Commission kd1@cpuc.ca.gov
Duncan, David	Georgia Power Company jdduncan@southernco.com
Duncan, Paul	Gridpoint, Inc. pduncan@gridpoint.com
Duong, Tien Q.	U.S. Department of Energy tien.duong@hq.doe.gov
Eilertsen, Thor	Custom Electronics, Inc. teilertsen@customelec.com
Enbar, Nadv	Energy Insights nenbar@energy-insights.com
Eto, Joseph H.	Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory jheto@lbl.gov
Eyer, Jim	Distributed Utility Associates jim@dua1.com
Farber-DeAnda, Mindi	SAIC farbermj@saic.com
Fiske, Jim	Power Ring jfiske@launchpnt.com
Fleming, Frank	NorthStar Battery frank.fleming@northstarbattery.com
Eva Gardow	First Energy Corporation egardow@firstenergycorp.com
Geist, Thomas	EPRI Solutions tgeist@eprisolutions.com
Gotschall, Harold	Technology Insights gotschall@ti-sd.com
Gray-Fenner, Amber	Energy Communications Consulting amber@energycommunications-nm.com
Gyuk, Imre	U.S. Department of Energy imre.gyuk@hq.doe.gov
Hassenzahl, William	Advanced Energy Analysis advenergy1@aol.com

Haught, Deborah	U.S. Department of Energy debbie.haught@hq.doe.gov
Hayden, Herbert	Arizona Public Service herbert.hayden@pinnaclewest.com
Hennessey, Tim	VRB Power Systems Inc. office@vrbpower.com
Herbst, John	University of Texas j.herbst@mail.utexas.edu
Hoagland, Joseph	TVA/Public Power Institute jjhoagland@tva.gov
Hoffman, Michael	Bonneville Power Administration mghoffman@bpa.gov
Horgan, Susan	Distributed Utility Associates Inc. susan@dua1.com
Huang, Alex	North Carolina State University - ECE - SPEC aqhuang@ncsu.edu
Hughes, Michael	ZBB Technologies Inc. m.hughes@zbbenergy.com
Jaffe, Todd	Energy Business Brokers and Consultants tjaffe@energybusinessconsultants.com
Jensen, James	Alaska Energy Authority jjensen@aidea.org
Johnson, Brad	bwjohnson@acninc.net
Kalafala, A. Kamal	Intermagnetics General Corp. kamal@igc.com
Kamath, Haresh	EPRI Solutions hkamath@epri.com
Karner, Don	Electric Transportation Applications dkerner@etecevs.com
Key, Tom	EPRI tkey@epri.com
King, Richard J.	U.S. Department of Energy richard.king@ee.doe.gov
Kirby, Brendan J.	Oak Ridge National Laboratory kirbybj@ornl.gov
Koontz, Charles	Integrys Energy Services cakoontz@integrysenergy.com
Kristiansen, R.	EnerSys, Inc. rich.kristiansen@enersysinc.com
Kulkarni, Pramod	California Energy Commission pkulkarn@energy.state.ca.us
Lasseter, Bob	University of Wisconsin lasseter@engr.wisc.edu
Lex, Peter	ZBB Technologies, Inc. p.lex@zbbenergy.com

Liaw, Bor Yann	University of Hawaii liawb001@hawaii.rr.com
Lightner, Eric M.	U.S. Department of Energy eric.lightner@hq.doe.gov
Magnani, Nick	magnanin@yuasainc.com
Marnay, Chris	Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory c_marnay@lbl.gov
McDowall, James	SAFT jim.mcdowall@saftbatteries.com
McGinn, Patrick	Satcon patrick.mcginn@satcon.com
Mears, Daniel	Technology Insights mears@ti-sd.com
Moore, Jeffrey	S&C Electric Company broberts@sandc.com
Moseley, Patrick	ILZRO pmoseley@ilzro.org
Newnham, Russell	CSIRO Russell.newnham@csiro.au
Norris, Ben	Norris Energy Consulting Company ben@norrisenergy.com
Nourai, Ali	AEP anourai@aep.com
O'Leary, Ray	S&C Electric Company roleary@sandc.com
Oshima, Taku	NGK Insulators, LTD. t-oshima@ngk.co.jp
Overholt, Philip N.	U.S. Department of Energy philip.overholt@hq.doe.gov
Parker, Carl	International Lead Zinc Research Organization Inc. cparker@ilzro.org
Phillips, Maryann	Electro Energy, Inc. mphillips@electroenergyinc.com
Porter, Dave	S&C Electric Company dporter@sandc.com
Ranade, Satish	New Mexico State University sranade@nmsu.edu
Rannels, James E.	U.S. Department of Energy james.rannels@hq.doe.gov
Rastler, Dan	EPRI drastler@epri.com
Reed, Michael	Electro Energy, Inc. mreed@electroenergyinc.com
Reilly, James T.	Reilly Associates j_reilly@verizon.net

Roberts, Bradford	S&C Electric Company, Power Quality Products Division broberts@sandc.com
Rosenthal, Andrew L.	New Mexico State University arosenth@nmsu.edu
Rossmeissl, Neil P.	U.S. Department of Energy neil.rossmeissl@hq.doe.gov
Rufer, Alfred	Ecole Polytechnique Federale de Lausanne (EPFL) alfred.rufer@epfl.ch
Saft, Michael C.	Saft America, Inc. michael.saft@saftamerica.com
Sanchez, Dan	U.S. DOE - Albuquerque Operations Office dsanchez@doeal.gov
Schainker, Robert	EPRI rschaink@epri.com
Scheer, Rich	Energetics, Inc. rscheer@energeticsinc.com
Schmitt, Robert	GNB Industrial Power rob.schmitt@exide.com
Schoenung, Susan	Longitude 122 West, Inc schoenung@aol.com
Shahidehpour, Mohammad	Illinois Institute of Technology ms@iit.edu
Shirk, Bob	NorthStar Battery bob.shirk@northstarbattery.com
Singhal. Amit	NEI Corporation asinghal@neicorporation.com
Skolnik, Edward	Energetics–A Subsidiary of VSE Corporation eskolnik@energeticsinc.com
Skowronski, Mark	Electric Power Group skowronski@electricpowergroup.com
Smith, Paul	Smith Aerospace Marketing and Consulting psmith9@woh.rr.com
Sostrom, Stan	Power Engineers, Inc. ssostrom@powereng.com
Spence, Matthew	Hammond Expanders mspence@hmndexpander.com
Srinivasan, Devarajan	APS STAR Center devarajan.srinivasan@aps.com
Srinivasan, Venkat	Lawrence Berkeley National Lab vsrinivasan@lbl.gov
Steffel, Stephen J.	Pepco Holdings, Inc steve.steffel@conectiv.com
Stoval, John	Oak Ridge National Laboratory stovalljp@ornl.gov
Takayama, Toyoo Ted	NGK Insulators, Ltd. takayama@ngk.co.jp

Thijssen, Gerard	STORM gerard@storm.bz
Ton, Dan T.	U.S. Department of Energy dan.ton@ee.doe.gov
Torrero, Edward	NRECA Cooperative Research Network ed.torrero@nreca.org
Udo, Victor E.	Conectiv victor.udo@conectiv.com
van der Linden, Septimus	BRULIN Associates, LLC. brulinassoc@comcast.net
Walmet, Paula	Mead-Westvaco paula.walmet@mwv.com
Weaver, Robert D.	rdweaver@foothillwireless.net
Whitaker, Chuck	Endecon Engineering chuckw@endecon.com
Winter, Rick	Deeya Energy rowinter@sbcglobal.net
Woolf, Gerry	BEST Magazine gerry@bestmag.co.uk
Zaininger, Henry	Zaininger Engineering Co. hzaininger@aol.com

[inside back cover]

